FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 2/19/2019 11:52 AM

No. <u>96859-4</u> SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 50791-9-II COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EVERI PAYMENTS INC., successor in interest to, and formerly known as, GLOBAL CASH ACCESS, INC.

Petitioner,

ν.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF EVERI PAYMENTS INC.

PILLSBURY WINTHROP SHAW PITTMAN LLP

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Blaine I. Green
Admitted pro hac vice

By: Catherine W. Smith WSBA No. 9542

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER.

The petitioner is Everi Payments Inc. ("Everi"), plaintiff in the trial court and appellant in the Court of Appeals.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION.

The Court of Appeals issued its published decision on December 11, 2018, Everi Payments, Inc. v. Washington State Department of Revenue, ___ Wn. App. __, 432 P.3d 411 ("Opinion" or "Op.") (App. A), and denied a timely motion for reconsideration on January 17, 2019 (App. B).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

- 1. Does federal law preempt the taxing by the State of Washington ("State") Department of Revenue ("DOR") of gaming-related activities at tribal casinos, when such activities are performed by a tribally-licensed gaming service provider and pursuant to contract with a tribe?
- 2. Do the tribal-state gaming compacts in Washington authorize state taxes on gaming-related services and, if not, are such taxes nonetheless permissible?
- 3. May DOR impose business and occupational ("B&O") tax on the privilege of providing gaming services on tribal land, when that privilege to do on-reservation business is granted by tribes, not the State?
- 4. Is all fee revenue from casino cash-access transactions subject to B&O tax, even when the service provider acts as a collection agent—charging and collecting fees determined by the tribes—and most such revenue is passed through to the tribes, not retained by the service provider?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

A. Everi Provides Cash Access and Related Services That Are Critical to Tribal Casino Gaming.

Everi provides products and services exclusively for the gaming industry and, in particular, casino gaming. (CP 946) Through kiosks. ATMs and other machines customized for casinos, Everi provides cash access services to the casino floor, including ATM withdrawal, credit card cash advances, debit card point-of-sale cash advances, and check cashing (collectively, "cash access services"). (Op. ¶ 4) Access to cash is critical for casinos because gambling is entirely a cash business. (CP 433, 946) Casino patrons cannot use credit, debit or ATM cards to place bets at slot machines or table games; bets must be made with cash, chips or gaming tokens, which can be purchased only with cash. (Id.) Cash access services allow patrons to obtain cash without leaving the casino. $(Op, \P 4)$ Availability of cash on the casino floor is standard in the gaming industry. and patrons expect these services to be available. (CP 434) Each casino in Washington provides cash access services to their patrons through a vendor, either through Everi or another provider of similar services. (CP 435)

Besides allowing casino patrons to access cash, Everi's kiosks provide other gaming-related services that are important to casinos and their patrons. (CP 946-47) Everi kiosks provide "ticket-in, ticket-out" ("TITO") capability for gaming ticket redemption, as well as other gaming-related

¹ Slot machines generally pay out winnings through tickets printed by the machine. (CP 946-47) When ready to cash out from a slot machine, a casino patron presses the "cash out" button, and the machine dispenses a ticket that shows the winnings; casino patrons then insert that ticket into an Everi kiosk to obtain cash, a service that standard ATMs cannot provide. (*Id.*)

functionality, which have become standard in the casino industry. (*Id.*) To allow redemption of gaming tickets for cash, Everi's kiosks are necessarily connected with the casino's "tribal lottery system"—the slot management and player tracking system used at tribal casinos—which take wagers and dispense tickets. (CP 448) Furthermore, the placement of Everi kiosks and machines throughout the casino floor (and integration with the tribal slot management system) takes pressure off the casino cashier's cage, which is otherwise responsible for cash-handling and ticket redemption. (CP 946-47)

B. Washington Tribes Contract for and Collaborate with Everi for Cash Access Services.

Everi provides cash access services at most tribal casinos in Washington, pursuant to contracts with more than a dozen federally recognized tribes in the State. (CP 346-47, 949, 991, 998-1001). Everi's business in Washington is almost entirely on-reservation: approximately 98-99% of the cash access transactions that Everi performs in the State are at tribal casinos on Indian lands. (CP 990-91, 998-1001)²

Tribes and Everi work together—through negotiation and consultation, before entering into contracts—to design the particular services to be offered at a tribal casino. (CP 662) Pursuant to their contracts, tribes collaborate with Everi in selecting, installing, maintaining and operating cash access services:

² The remaining 1-2% are at card clubs or race tracks that are not on Indian land. (CP 990-91, 998-1001) Because Everi furnishes these services to non-tribal entities, and provided off-reservation, Everi does not dispute the State's authority to tax them. (CP 6-7)

- <u>Design of Services</u>. In consultation with Everi, the tribe selects what cash access services (e.g. ATM withdrawal, credit and debit card cash advance, check cashing) and other gaming related functionality (e.g. TITO, bill-breaking) the tribe desires to make available at its casino. (CP 662, 948)
- <u>Installation and Maintenance</u>. Everi supplies the equipment (e.g., kiosks) and the casinos provide physical space, security coverage, utilities, heating and lighting to support the cash access services. (CP 662, 950, 959)
- <u>Integration with Gaming Floor</u>. To maximize efficiency and profitability, cash access services must be integrated into the gaming floor, requiring coordination with the cashier's cage, tribal gaming regulators and other casino personnel. (CP 662)
- Transaction Processing and Completion. Everi and the tribe work together to ensure integrity of cash access transactions, including "Transaction Completion Procedures" to prevent fraudulent activity; tribal casinos must also perform other "Service Center Obligations." (CP 662-63, 972)

C. Tribes Determine the Fees for Cash Access Transactions; Everi and the Tribes Share the Resulting Revenue, with Tribes Receiving Most Revenue.

A patron who uses cash access services on the casino floor must pay a surcharge or transaction fee. (Op. ¶ 4; CP 948) The tribal casino (referred to as "Service Center" in contracts) sets the amount of the surcharge for each transaction. (CP 948; see CP 974 ("The Cardholder Fees shall be the property of the Service Center, and . . . Service Center . . . shall have the right to determine the Cardholder Fees") and CP 979 (same)) The tribal casinos make the strategic business decision—informed by each casino's goals and the tribe's revenue-raising objectives—on what fees to charge their patrons for ATM, credit card cash advance and debit card transactions. (CP 948) To promote more gaming, some tribes set lower fees on cash access transactions. (Id.) Other tribes seek to maximize direct revenue to the tribe by setting higher fees. (Id.)

As specified in their contracts, the tribes and Everi share the transaction surcharges and fees from cash access transactions completed at tribal casinos. (CP 948) In general, the tribes keep most or all surcharge paid by the patrons for ATM withdrawal transactions, and Everi retains only a small portion of the revenue produced by these transactions, plus monthly management, maintenance and processing fees. (*Id.*) Overall, tribes receive most of the revenue generated by all transactions completed using Everi kiosks or machines at tribal casinos. (CP 948-49) For example, in 2011 and 2012, 65% of all such revenue was paid to tribes as "commissions," pursuant to Everi's contracts with those tribes, while Everi retained approximately 35%. (CP 949, 955-56) In 2013, 67% of such revenue was paid to tribes.³ (*Id.*)

D. Everi Is Licensed as a Gaming Service Provider by Each Tribe for Whom it Provides Cash Access Services.

Under the Washington Tribal-State Gaming Compact, any vendor of "gaming services" must be tribally licensed as a gaming service provider before providing services to a tribal casino. (CP 446, 509)⁴ Licensing of gaming service providers is critical to ensure the legal compliance, integrity

³ While tribes and Everi share in transaction revenues, the tribal portion may be reduced—pursuant to Everi's contracts with tribes—if a governmental authority increases the rate, fees or costs imposed on Everi for providing cash access services (CP 959-60), thus impacting Everi and the tribes with whom it contracts and for whom it provides services.

⁴ A complete copy of the Tribal-State Compact for Class III Gaming, between the Snoqualmie Indian tribe and the State of Washington (hereafter, "Gaming Compact"), is included in the Clerk's Papers at CP 494 to 618. The State's gaming compacts with other tribes are the same in all material respects. All of Washington's gaming compacts are publicly available on the website of the Washington State Gambling Commission, https://www.wsgc.wa.gov/tribal-gaming/gaming-compacts, *last visited Feb. 15, 2019*.

and reputation of the gaming operation. (CP 446) Tribal gaming commissions conduct background checks on gaming service providers, including their individual principals, to ensure that criminal or corrupting influences are not allowed in the casino. (CP 346, 446) Until a gaming vendor is licensed, it may not provide services at a tribal casino, nor receive payments from the tribe or casino. (CP 446, 509) To ensure the integrity of the tribal gaming operation, the Gaming Compact broadly defines "Gaming Services"—and requires licensure of "Gaming Services" suppliers—to include "the providing of any goods or services to the Tribe, whether on or off site, directly (or indirectly) in connection with the operation of Class III gaming⁵ in a Gaming Facility" (CP 446, 502 (Gaming Compact, p. 3, § II.M))

Tribal gaming ordinances often are more stringent than compacts in their regulation of Class III gaming. (CP 447) Tribal gaming agencies may require licensure of individual employees of gaming vendors who provide onsite maintenance, who have access to sensitive areas of the casino floor or systems, or who are key persons in the gaming vendor's organization. (*Id.*) For example, the Snoqualmie Gaming Commission has licensed Everi as well as 11 individual employees of the company. (*Id.*)

⁵ "Class III" gaming is one of three categories of gaming established by IGRA. Class I gaming (social or traditional ceremonial games) is exclusively regulated by tribes. Class II gaming (primarily bingo, pull-tabs and similar games) must be conducted in conformance with IGRA and tribal law, and is subject to federal oversight by the National Indian Gaming Commission. Class III gaming is all forms of gaming that are not Class I gaming or Class II gaming. See 25 U.S.C. § 2703(6)-(8).

E. <u>DOR Imposes B&O Tax on Cash Access Transactions at</u> Tribal Casinos, and Everi Challenges the Tax.

DOR takes the unprecedented⁶ position that it may tax revenues generated from cash access transactions at tribal casinos. (CP 991) In addition, DOR has assessed B&O tax on Everi for all cash access service revenues—even for the substantial majority of revenue that Everi simply collects for and pays to tribes. (CP 949, 955-56)

In December 2013, DOR's Audit Division assessed \$375,222 in B&O tax against Everi. (CP 991) The audit stated the tax was imposed for "gambling" services provided by Everi from January 1, 2009 to June 30, 2012. (CP 991, 1003) In January 2014, Everi filed a petition to DOR, contesting assessment on the grounds the taxes were preempted by federal law. (CP 992) On June 25, 2015, DOR denied Everi's petition. (CP 992) While still disputing DOR's authority to tax the on-reservation, gaming-related services at issue, Everi paid the disputed amount on its 2014 appeal and has continued to pay B&O tax to DOR. (CP 992) From January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2015, Everi paid over \$1,400,000 in B&O tax to DOR. (Op. ¶ 8; CP 997). Approximately 99% of these taxes—specifically, \$1,421,582.18—were paid based on the cash access services that Everi provides to on-reservation tribal casinos ("on-reservation taxes"). (CP 990, 997)

⁶ Even DOR's tribal liaison was unable to cite any other instance when DOR imposed tax on gaming-related services provided at a tribal casino. (CP 319-20 (p. 60:4-61:4)).

⁷ For this same period (2012-2015), Everi paid \$14,946.74 in B&O tax for cash access services provided to off-reservation card clubs or race tracks, which are not owned or operated by tribes. (CP 990, 997) These "off-reservation" taxes are not in dispute. (CP 7)

On December 31, 2015, Everi filed a Notice of Appeal and Complaint for Refund of Taxes in Thurston County Superior Court, seeking refund of the \$1,421,582.18 in on-reservation taxes paid to DOR. (Op. ¶ 9; CP 5-15). The parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment. The trial court granted DOR's motion and denied Everi's. (CP 937-940) Everi appealed. (Op. ¶ 10)

F. The Court of Appeals Affirmed DOR's Authority to Tax On-Reservation, Gaming Related Services.

On December 11, 2018, the Court of Appeals issued a published decision affirming summary judgment to DOR. Everi Payments, Inc. v. Washington State Department of Revenue, ___ Wn. App. ___, 432 P.3d 411. The Court held that federal law does not preempt tax on cash access services at tribal casinos because "the State's B&O tax on Everi is neither prohibited nor preempted by IGRA [the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act]." (Op. ¶ 39) It also held the "Washington-Tribal compacts do not preempt the State's B&O tax" on the services Everi provides to tribal casinos (Op. ¶ 34) and the tax at issue was "not compactable and, as a result, not within a compact's preemptive power through IGRA." (Op. ¶ 38)

To support its holding, the Court of Appeals focused on the nature of the "transactions upon which the B&O tax is assessed" (Op. ¶ 36), even though the B&O tax is on the "privilege of engaging in business activities," RCW 82.04.220(1)—a privilege granted to Everi (and other gaming service providers) by tribes, not the State. The Court also held that Everi "was not

acting as the tribes' agent during its cash access services," and thus "cannot reduce its gross taxable income by the amount it owed to tribes." (Op. ¶ 74)

V. WHY THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW.

A. This Court should accept review to decide the significant public issue of whether federal law preempts the State from taxing gaming-related activities at tribal casinos. (RAP 13.4(b)(4))

In holding that the IGRA does not preempt B&O tax on gaming-related services at issue here, the Court of Appeals assumed that if the tax was not prohibited by IGRA, then it must be allowed under IGRA and federal law. (Op. ¶¶ 28-33) Not so. Pursuant to controlling U.S. Supreme Court precedent that pre-dates IGRA, states lack authority to regulate or tax a tribal gaming enterprise, including involvement of non-Indians in that enterprise. California v. Cabazon Band of Mission Indians, 480 U.S. 202, 219-20 (1987) ("Cabazon"). See Indian Country U.S.A., Inc. v. State ex rel. Oklahoma Tax Comm'n, 829 F.2d 967, 983 n.7 (10th Cir. 1987) (applying Cabazon, state lacked authority to tax bingo activity and that "preemption of state laws extends to the . . . bingo enterprise as a whole, which includes the involvement of non-Indians [such as Indian Country U.S.A., Inc.]").

The courts below failed to appreciate that IGRA was passed in response to *Cabazon* and—as the U.S. Supreme Court has repeatedly recognized—a state's authority over on-reservation gaming is limited to what is provided for under IGRA. *Michigan v. Bay Mills Indian Community*, 134 S.Ct. 2024, 2034 (2014) ("Congress adopted IGRA in response to [*Cabazon*], which held that States lacked any regulatory

authority over gaming on Indian lands"); Seminole Tribe of Florida v. Florida, 517 U.S. 44, 58, 116 S.Ct. 1114 (1996) ("[IGRA] grants the States a power that they would not otherwise have, viz., some measure of authority over gaming on Indian lands"); Confederated Tribes of the Chehalis Reservation v. Johnson, 134 Wn.2d 734, 754, 958 P.2d 260 (1998) (Congress passed IGRA in response to Cabazon).

Congress left states "no regulatory role over gaming except as expressly authorized by IGRA, and under it, the only method by which a state can apply its general civil laws to gaming is through a tribal-state compact." *Gaming Corp. of Am. v. Dorsey & Whitney*, 88 F.3d 536, 546 (8th Cir. 1996).⁸ *See also State of Washington v. Shale*, 182 Wn.2d 882, 893, n.7, 345 P.3d 776 (2015) (citing *Cabazon*, "states lack civil regulatory jurisdiction except as explicitly set forth by statute").⁹

Furthermore, Cabazon and Indian Country U.S.A., Inc. demonstrate why this issue—whether the State has regulatory and tax authority on gaming activities in Indian country—is of significant public interest. The Cabazon Court recognized the important federal and tribal interests in

⁸ Through IGRA, Congress definitively performed the "balancing" of interests for purposes of state authority over on-reservation gaming activities. *Gaming Corp. of Am.*, 88 F.3d at 546 ("rather than directing the federal courts to perform the balancing of interests between the state on the one side and the tribe and federal government on the other, Congress conducted the balancing itself"). But if this Court were to balance interests pursuant to *White Mountain Apache Tribe v. Bracker*, 448 U.S. 136 (1980) ("*Bracker*"), the federal and tribal interests in Everi's gaming-related services outweigh the state interest. *See Cabazon*, 480 U.S. 221-22 (in *Bracker* balancing analysis, "compelling federal and tribal interests" in gaming are much greater than state interests).

⁹ As discussed *infra*, Part V.B, the Washington Gaming Compacts do not provide any authority for the State to tax gaming services or gaming service providers.

Indian self-government, self-sufficiency and economic development, as well as the fact that tribes operating casinos were not merely "market[ing] an exemption from state taxation to persons who would normally do their business elsewhere," but were "generating value on the reservations through activities in which they have a substantial interest." *Id.* at 216, 219. The Court held that "compelling federal and tribal interests" supported Indian gambling enterprises—including the high-stakes bingo and poker at issue in that case—and those interests outweighed the state's professed interest in regulation. *Id.* at 221-22. *See Indian Country U.S.A., Inc.*, 829 F.2d at 983 and n.7 (10th Cir. 1987) (under *Cabazon*, immunity from state regulation and taxation applies to tribal gaming enterprise as a whole, including non-Indian operator).¹⁰

In addition, the Supreme Court "has consistently recognized that Indian tribes retain attributes of sovereignty over both their members <u>and their territory</u>, . . . and that tribal sovereignty is dependent on, and subordinate to, only the Federal Government, not the States." *Cabazon*, 480 U.S. at 207 (emphasis added and internal quotations omitted; citing *Washington v. Confederated Tribes of the Colville Indian Reservation*, 447 U.S. 134, 154 (1980)). The extent of the State's regulatory and taxing power over tribal casinos—and specifically, whether the State has any such power independent of the Gaming Compact—is an issue of important public

¹⁰ Also, in the wake of *Cabazon*, IGRA itself acknowledges the public policy, including federal and tribal interests, in "operation of gaming by Indian tribes as a means of promoting tribal economic development, self-sufficiency, and strong tribal governments," as well as tribal regulation of gaming. 25 U.S.C. § 2702(1),(2).

interest for every Washington tribe, for the State itself, and for anyone (Indian or non-Indian; Everi and others) that provides gaming-related services at on-reservation tribal casinos.

B. This Court should accept review to decide the significant public issue of whether the Gaming Compact authorizes State taxes on gaming-related services and, if not, whether such taxes are permissible. (RAP 13.4(b)(4))

In holding there is "No Preemption by Tribal-State Compacts" (Op. ¶¶ 34-39), Division II assumes that because taxes on gaming-related services are not expressly preempted in the Compact, then such taxes must be allowed. That is not the law. As discussed above, under *Cabazon* and *Indian Country U.S.A.*, the default rule is that states lack regulatory or tax authority over the tribal gaming enterprise as a whole (including involvement of non-Indians). Nothing in IGRA confers such tax authority on the State. *See* 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(4). And post-IGRA cases make clear that states have no regulatory role over gaming, except to the extent expressly authorized by tribal-state compact. *Gaming Corp. of Am. v. Dorsey & Whitney*, 88 F.3d at 546.

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