FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/22/2019 1:52 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 96859-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EVERI PAYMENTS INC., successor in interest to, and formerly known as, GLOBAL CASH ACCESS, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Andrew Krawczyk, WSBA No. 42982 Assistant Attorney General David M. Hankins, WSBA No. 19194 Senior Counsel P.O. Box 40123 Olympia, WA 98504-0123 (360) 753-5515 OID No. 91027

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

IV. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

The courts below correctly applied federal Indian law and state B&O tax law to the undisputed facts in the record to hold that Everi's earnings from providing cash access services are taxable, and not preempted by federal law. Nothing in the Court of Appeals opinion contradicts federal statutes or case law or this Court's decisions addressing taxation of non-Indians doing business on tribal reservations. Everi pares down its issues in seeking review, but each of the issues lack merit and were competently addressed by the Court of Appeals. Further review is not warranted.

A. The Court of Appeals Applied Established Federal Preemption Standards in Ruling the State May Tax Everi's Gross Receipts from Cash Access Services

Everi's preemption issue does not warrant this Court's review because the Court of Appeals' ruling follows well-established rules regarding state authority to tax non-Indians and presents no conflict or significant question requiring this Court's review.

Everi does not contest the general framework that states may generally impose taxes on non-Indians for activities on tribal reservations

if the legal incidence of the tax falls on the non-Indian. Opinion ¶¶ 18-19 (citing Oklahoma Tax Comm'n v. Chickasaw Nation, 515 U.S. 450, 115 S. Ct. 2214, 132 L. Ed. 2d 400 (1995)). Everi also does not take issue with the Court of Appeals' ruling that for generally applicable state taxes on non-Indians to be preempted under IGRA (the federal Indian Gaming Regulatory Act, 25 U.S.C. § 2701 et seq.), the tax must interfere with the tribe's ability to regulate its gambling operations. Opinion ¶¶24-27. Similarly, Everi does not dispute that IGRA does not expressly preempt the B&O tax on Everi's gross receipts from cash access fees. See Opinion ¶¶ 23-31. Nor does it question the Court of Appeals' ruling that the Indian Trader Statutes, 25 U.S.C. §§ 261-264, do not apply or otherwise preempt the B&O tax on cash access fee revenue. See Opinion ¶¶ 40-44. And, other than a bare mention in footnote 8 of the petition, Everi does not address the particularized inquiry the Court of Appeals undertook to determine that taxation in this instance survives under the balancing inquiry in White Mountain Apache Tribe v. Bracker, 448 U.S. 136, 100 S. Ct. 2578, 65 L. Ed. 2d 665 (1980). Opinion ¶¶45-60.

⁴ States have jurisdiction to impose nondiscriminatory, generally applicable taxes on non-Indians performing otherwise taxable functions within Indian reservations unless expressly or impliedly preempted. *Cotton Petroleum Corp. v. New Mexico*, 490 U.S. 163, 175, 109 S. Ct. 1698, 104 L. Ed. 2d 209 (1989).

Instead, Everi asks this Court to review whether Washington has authority to impose the B&O tax based on a handful of passages taken out of context from pre-IGRA cases. *See* Pet. at 9-11 (citing *California v. Cabazon Band of Mission Indians*, 480 U.S. 202, 107 S. Ct. 1083, 94 L. Ed. 2d 244 (1987) (*Cabazon I*) (California could not apply its own laws regulating bingo prize limits and card games to Indian gaming). Everi's arguments about these cases imply that states are categorically barred from taxing the non-gaming services of non-Indian vendors transacting with non-Indian customers. That question does not warrant review because the Supreme Court in *Cabazon I* rejected that same per se rule. 480 U.S. at 214-16. Instead, it decided a question about state regulation of tribal high stakes bingo based on a *Bracker*-type examination of federal, tribal, and state interests. *Id.* at 216-22.⁵

Everi's argument for review based on *Cabazon I* also fails for the simple fact that IGRA now explicitly addresses congressional intent regarding the role of states in tribal gaming operations. Furthermore, the Court of Appeals' evaluation of preemption under IGRA does not warrant review because Everi had no valid argument for preemption. Everi's cash

⁵ Everi supports its argument with a passage from *State v. Shale*, 182 Wn.2d 882, 893 n.7, 345 P.3d 776 (2015), and implies that the passage supports its erroneous reading of *Cabazon*. Pet. at 10. The footnote from *Shale*, however, concerns authority over an Indian within Indian Country, not state authority over non-Indians or gaming.

access services undisputedly are *not* gaming activities under IGRA or for any other purpose. Pet. at 12. Gaming involves some type of game of chance for a prize or award of value. *Michigan v. Bay Mills Indian Cmty.*, 572 U.S. 782, 134 S. Ct. 2024, 2032, 188 L. Ed. 2d 1071 (2014). Everi admitted cash access services are *not* "games of chance" or "class I, II or III" playable games or gaming. CP 1373-75.⁶ Accordingly, the Court of Appeals properly applied preemption analysis on whether IGRA expressly preempts the B&O tax on Everi's non-gaming activity. Opinion ¶¶28-33. The Court then properly balanced federal policies and tribal interests associated with tribal gaming operations in its *Bracker* balancing inquiry. Opinion ¶¶ 48-54.

Everi shows no conflict in the Court of Appeals' approach to its post-IGRA era claim, where IGRA informs an implied preemption analysis under *Bracker*, which provides the controlling preemption standards for state taxation of non-Indians doing business in Indian country. To suggest conflict, Everi relies on a Tenth Circuit case barring Oklahoma from either directly regulating or imposing a sales tax on

⁶ Under federal law, the customer using the machine is the "consumer" of the electronic fund transfer and Everi is the "operator" of the machine. Electronic Fund Transfer Act (EFTA), Pub. L. No. 90-321, 92 Stat. 3728 (1978) (codified as amended at 15 U.S.C. §§ 1693-1693r (2006)); Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. pt. 205, 12 C.F.R. § 205.2(e), (g), 12 C.F.R. § 205.3(b), 12 C.F.R. § 205.16(a), (c)(1), (e); see also 12 C.F.R. § 205.1(b) (purpose of Regulation E); CP 69 (EFTA requires Everi to notify casino patrons of fees).

revenues from a tribal bingo enterprise. Pet. at 9-11; *Indian Country*, U.S.A., Inc. v. State ex rel. Oklahoma Tax Comm'n, 829 F.2d 967, 981-87 (10th Cir. 1987), cert. denied, 487 U.S. 1218 (1988). But Indian Country is a pre-IGRA decision and readily distinguishable because the state was taxing actual gaming activities.

Everi also relies on a post-IGRA circuit court case. But that case does not concern state taxes—it addressed claims by casino management companies against a law firm representing a tribe during the tribal casino's licensing process, after the tribe's gaming commission denied applications for permanent gaming licenses to the management companies. Consistent with IGRA's allocation of authority between tribes, the federal government, and states, the court held IGRA supplanted the state common law causes of action. *See Gaming Corp. of Am. v. Dorsey & Whitney*, 88 F.3d 536, 544-45, 550 (8th Cir. 1996). This unsurprising holding casts no shadow on the Court of Appeals' decision in this case, which concerns taxes on a non-Indian's cash access business.

In sum, Everi's cases fail to show an issue worth review. But this Court should also deny review in light of the numerous decisions holding that IGRA does not preempt generally applicable, non-discriminatory regulation or taxation of non-Indian activities, including those closely associated with gaming. See, e.g., Mashantucket Pequot Tribe v. Town of

Ledyard, 722 F.3d 457, 470-77 (2d Cir. 2013) (state's personal property tax on non-Indian lessors of slot machines used at tribal casino not preempted under IGRA or Bracker); Barona Band of Mission Indians v. Yee, 528 F.3d 1184, 1190-94 (9th Cir. 2008) (state sales tax on construction material purchased by non-Indian contractor and delivered to tribal land for tribal casino expansion not preempted under IGRA or Bracker); Casino Res. Corp. v. Harrah's Entm't, Inc., 243 F.3d 435, 438-40 (8th Cir. 2001) (IGRA did not preempt state law claims between nontribal general contractor and subcontractor); Confederated Tribes of the Chehalis Reservation v. Johnson, 135 Wn.2d 734, 756, 958 P.2d 260 (1998) (IGRA did not preempt Washington public records act as applied to records related to tribal-state gaming compacts). In short, Everi's theory that it may evade taxation based on IGRA or a "default rule" precluding regulation of non-Indians "involved" in tribal gaming (Pet. at 12) is not supported by case law and provides no reason for review.

B. The Tribal-State Gaming Compacts Do Not Preclude State Taxation of Everi's Cash Access Fee Receipts

Everi argues that the Court of Appeals erred in rejecting its argument that gaming compacts preclude the tax. The Court of Appeals correctly held that a B&O tax on Everi's case access services is "not compactable and, as a result, not within a compact's preemptive power

through IGRA." Opinion, ¶ 38. This holding does not raise an issue of substantial public importance requiring review.

Everi argues that even though IGRA-authorized tribal-state contracts do not mention state taxes on non-Indian vendors of non-gaming services, and IGRA does not preempt such taxes expressly or otherwise, the compacts preclude the taxes. Everi's compact argument, however, relies on the false premise that its cash access services constitute "gaming" under IGRA. Pet. at 12. Everi also points to a portion of the Snoqualmie compact, claiming its cash access services fall within that definition of "Gaming Services." Pet. at 13; CP 502; see also CP 481 ("Gaming Vendors" are persons who sell "Gaming Services" to the Tribe). The plain compact language dictates the opposite conclusion: "Gaming Services" includes only "the providing of any goods or services to the *Tribe* " CP 502 (emphasis added). Everi earned revenue providing cash access services to casino patrons under contracts between Everi and those patrons, independent of Everi's contract with the Tribe. See Opinion, ¶¶ 36-37.

⁷ Everi's compact argument is also unsuited for this Court's review because Everi merely provided one compact between the State and the Snoqualmie Tribe to argue all compacts preempt taxation. Everi did not submit specific language from any other tribal compacts, even though it provides ATM services at 17 other tribal casinos. CP 6-7, 1320-21, 1329.

The fact that Everi engages in multiple business activities, including some Gaming Services to tribes, does not mean all of Everi's activities are Gaming Services under the compact. Indeed, Everi admits that cash access services are not gaming. CP 1373-75. Additionally, in places where Everi provides solely cash access services, Everi is a "nongaming supplier or vendor" CP 66; *see* CP 370 (example of annual "nongaming" vendor license).⁸

Ultimately, Everi tries to avoid the factual and legal barriers to its compact argument by arguing that because the Compact "neither expressly prohibits nor permits tax on gaming services or service providers, the State has no such authority." Pet. at 13. That is not the law. Everi cites 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(4) for that proposition, but subsection (d) expressly governs Class III gaming activities and compacting regarding the same, not ATM services. Everi's claim that the absence of express authority in a state-tribal compact precludes state taxation of non-gaming activities is unsupportable. As explained above and in the Court of Appeals decision, no such categorical bar or per se rule against such taxation exists. Opinion,

⁸ Treating cash access services as B&O taxable non-gaming services also is consistent with Everi's contracts with Tribes, which contemplate that Everi will pay taxes based on gross receipts. CP 960, 1240, 1257.

gaming compacts displace this tax, the issue does not meet the criteria for review in RAP 13.4(b).

C. The Court of Appeal's Decision Correctly Applies This Court's Precedent on the Nature of the B&O Tax

The legal incidence of the B&O tax is "the act or privilege of engaging in business activities" in the State of Washington. RCW 82.04.220. Each business activity is separate, each activity is taxed at a rate according to its classification, and the amount of tax due is measured by taking the gross revenues from each separate business activity engaged in and multiplying it by the applicable tax rate. *Steven Klein, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 183 Wn.2d 889, 896-98, 357 P.3d 59 (2015).9

For service activities, the tax is assessed on the gross income of the business. *See* RCW 82.04.290(2). "Gross income of the business" is defined as "the value proceeding or accruing by reason of the *transaction* of the business engaged in," without deduction for business expenses. RCW 82.04.080(1) (emphasis added). Thus, the measure of the tax focuses on taxable amounts generated by *transactions*. In claiming that the Court of Appeals incorrectly focused on transactions, rather than the

⁹ Taxpayers may deduct from the measure of tax amounts derived from business that the State is prohibited from taxing under federal law. RCW 82.04.4286. A taxpayer claiming a tax exemption bears the burden of proving it qualifies. *Simpson Inv. Co. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 141 Wn.2d 139, 149-50, 3 P.3d 741 (2000).

privilege of doing business, Everi confuses the *incident* with the *measure* of the tax.

Everi argues the decision's focus on the transactions between Everi and the patrons conflicts with *Ford Motor Co.*, Pet. at 16 (quoting *Ford Motor Co. v. City of Seattle*, 160 Wn.2d 32, 39-40, 156 P.3d 185 (2007)). Not so. That case explains that the B&O taxable incident is on the act or the privilege of engaging in business activities within the State. *Ford Motor Co.*, 160 Wn.2d at 40. Providing cash access services to casino patrons is both the "act" and "privilege" of engaging in a service business activity conducted within the State of Washington. Tribal reservations are part of the State in "both a jurisdictional and territorial sense" for purposes of the state B&O tax. *Neah Bay Fish Co. v. Krummel*, 3 Wn.2d 570, 578, 101 P.2d 600 (1940).

Everi also argues that because it is licensed by the Tribe, the state is attempting to tax that "privilege." Everi's focus on its tribal business licenses obfuscates the fact that the State also has licensed Everi to do business in Washington, which includes reservations within its boundaries. CP 170-71, 173. Moreover, the fact that a business was conducted on reservation under licenses "from the United States Commissioner of Indian Affairs and the Makah tribe of Indians" did not dissuade this Court

from holding that the B&O tax was valid on business transacted between non-Indians on the reservation. *Neah Bay Fish Co.*, 3 Wn.2d at 571, 578.

Finally, Everi cites four cases where the United States Supreme Court held state taxes on gross income to be preempted. Pet. at 17. These cases offer no reason for review because they are not applicable here. Two were decided under the Indian Trader Statutes, which do not apply here. See Warren Trading Post Co. v. Arizona State Tax Comm'n, 380 U.S. 685, 85 S. Ct. 1242, 14 L. Ed. 2d 165 (1965); Central Machinery Co. v. Arizona State Tax Comm'n, 448 U.S. 160, 100 S. Ct. 2592, 2595, 65 L. Ed. 2d 684 (1980). The Supreme Court decided the other two by applying a full Bracker-type inquiry, and in both cases, compelling federal and tribal interests outweighed the states' interests in taxing the non-Indian entities. See Bracker, 448 U.S. at 150-52; Ramah Navajo School Bd., Inc. v. Bureau of Revenue of New Mexico, 458 U.S. 832, 103 S. Ct. 3394, 73 L. Ed. 2d 1174 (1982) (state's abdication from educating tribal children and federal regulation of independent tribal schools weighed in favor of preemption). None of these cases holds that taxes on gross income are generally preempted. In fact, the weight of federal authority contravenes Everi's argument.¹⁰

¹⁰ Contrary to the misimpression given by Everi's arguments, federal courts have frequently upheld privilege taxes and taxes using gross receipts as its measure. *See, e.g., Gila River Indian Cmty. v. Waddell,* 91 F.3d 1232, 1240 (9th Cir. 1996) (privilege

D. The Court of Appeals Decision Correctly Applies This Court's Decisions on Everi's "Pass-Through" Income Argument

Because the B&O tax is a tax on gross income, not on net income, a service provider may not deduct its own costs of doing business, including its labor and administrative costs, from its gross income unless an express statutory deduction applies. RCW 82.04.080(1). Everi argues it acts only as a collection agent for the Tribes on 65%-67% of its fees because the Tribes set the fee in a contract. Everi claims only the portion it retains after paying the Tribes should be taxed. Pet. at 19-20.

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